
City of East Bethel 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting 
Date: April 23, 2023 at 7 p.m. 

Two or more Council Members and/or the Mayor may be in attendance at this meeting. 
If two or more Council Members and the Mayor attend the event, there will be a quorum of Council Members. 

 
This meeting may be monitored live via the following means: 

Cable Channel 10, MidcoTV Channel 77, or the City of East Bethel YouTube channel 
(www.youtube.com/channel/UC8_7ShcME-XG14pN5JrmBGg/live) 

 
1. Call To Order 

2. Adopt Agenda  

3. Approval of Minutes: March 26, 2024 

4. Oath of Office for Diana Saenger 

5. Public Hearing: Variance - Driveway Access Standards – 21333 Durant St NE 

6. Updates 

7. Adjourn 

http://www.youtube.com/channel/UC8_7ShcME-XG14pN5JrmBGg/live


 

DRAFT MINUTES:  NOT YET APPROVED 1 
 2 

EAST BETHEL PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 3 
March 26, 2024 4 

 5 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chair Sharon Johnson, Glenn Terry, Tanner Balfany,  Brian Downie, and Corey 6 

Jorgensen. 7 
 8 
MEMBERS ABSENT:  Gabriel Hanschen 9 
 10 
ALSO PRESENT:   Aaron Berg, Community Development Director 11 
                                    Jim Smith, City Council Liaison 12 
  13 
1.0  Call to Order 14 

Chair Johnson called the Planning Commission regular meeting to order at 7:00 pm. 15 
 16 
2.0  Adopt Agenda 17 

Commissioner Balfany moved and Commissioner Downie seconded to adopt the agenda as 18 
presented.  Johnson asked any discussion?  To the motion, all in favor say aye.  All in favor.  Johnson 19 
asked any opposed?  That motion passes.  Motion passes unanimously. 20 

3.0  Approve February 24, 2024 meeting minutes 21 
Johnson requested on line 8 to correct Gabriel’s name.  Line 35 add “off” between dropped it.  Line 251 22 
change landlord to landowners.  23 
Terry referenced his comments on Line 293, which should read:  a cudgel not to cudgel.  Line 304, 24 
should read:  “which would be negatively affected by the garage located elsewhere.” 25 
Jorgensen asked that his name was misspelt in a couple locations.  26 

Commissioner Terry moved and Commissioner Downie seconded to adopt the February 24, 2024 27 
regular meeting minutes as amended. Johnson asked any discussion?   28 
To the motion, all in favor say aye.  All in favor.  Johnson asked any opposed?  That motion passes.  29 
Motion passes unanimously. 30 

4.0  Candidate Interview:  Eldon Holmes  31 
Berg requested the Commission to review the letter if interest in the open Commissioner position and 32 
consider making a recommendation to City Council to fill the vacant seat in which the terms will expire 33 
on January 31, 2026. 34 
Eldon Holmes introduced himself and his background noting that he had previously spent 14 years on 35 
the Planning Commission. 36 
Downie asked why Mr. Holmes was interested in again becoming a Commission member for East 37 
Bethel.  Mr. Holmes responded he had enjoyed the other two times he was on the Commission.  He 38 
indicated he wanted to see what the City was doing and to get involved.  He noted that while he did not  39 
always agree with the other Commissioners, he tried to do what was best for the City. 40 
Balfany asked Mr. Holmes what strength and abilities would he bring back to the Planning Commission.  41 
Mr. Holmes responded his strength was that he had been on the Commissioner previously for 14 years, 42 
so he knew what transpired and why.  43 
Jorgensen asked Mr. Holmes what issues he was most interested in pursuing or promoting as a 44 
Committee member.  Mr. Holmes responded there were all sorts of issues that transpire, but he wanted 45 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 2 of 12  
 

 

to do what was best for the City.  He stated he would always keep going and try and work those things 46 
out.   47 
Johnson asked Mr. Holmes what his vision was for the Highway 65 corridor – that half mile on either 48 
side.  Mr. Holmes responded he had worked on this the last time he was on the Commission, but things 49 
had changed and it was now different.  He acknowledged he had not kept up with what had been done, 50 
but he was willing to find out what has been done and changed.  He believed he could help with this. 51 
Terry asked Mr. Holmes if he held any roles that could place him in a position of a conflict of interest 52 
such as financial, family relationships, or groups engaged in community matters as a Planning 53 
Commission member.  Mr. Holmes responded he did not.  He noted he had applied for the Planning 54 
Commission previously and he had no animosity towards anyone.  He stated he was just trying to do 55 
what was best for the City. 56 
Downie asked Mr. Holmes if he had any questions or if he wanted to add anything.  Mr. Holmes 57 
responded he did not have any questions as he knew what would transpire about everything as he had 58 
dealt with these things previously being on the Commission for 14 plus years.  He indicated he wanted 59 
the opportunity to do what was right for the City and would be honored to be on the Commission again. 60 
 61 
Diana Saenger 62 
Diana Saenger introduced herself noting she had 35 plus years of government experience and she was 63 
now retired.  She indicated she wanted to focus her energy on not being bored and being involved in the 64 
City. 65 
Downie asked Ms. Saenger why was she interested in becoming a Commission member for East Bethel.  66 
Ms. Saenger responded she believed the communications between the residents and the City was always 67 
something that they need to be responsive to, and make sure they are consistent.  She indicated she was 68 
interested in the developments in the City with the City’s growth.  She noted her experience and 69 
background with knowledge of how cities worked along with ordinance, rules, building codes, and 70 
statutes would be a good resource.   71 
Balfany asked Ms. Saenger what strengths and abilities would she bring to the Planning Commission.  72 
Ms. Saenger responded her strengths were organization.  She noted she did not comment on anything 73 
until she had fully researched ahead of time.  She indicated she liked to look at history because 74 
oftentimes they would have a number of requests that could be unique as there were a lot of unique 75 
neighborhoods in the City.   76 
Jorgensen asked what issues was Ms. Saenger most interested in pursuing or promoting as a Committee 77 
member.  Ms. Saenger responded the did not have any issues in particular.  She indicated she has been 78 
interested in the development of the City in watching it grow, and she had always enjoyed working with 79 
the City staff when she had her own projects.  80 
Johnson asked, what was Ms. Saenger vision for the Highway 65 corridor.  Ms. Saenger responded she 81 
would like to see some larger retailers such as a grocery store, a Menards, Costco, but acknowledged the 82 
City needed more people before that would happen.  She believed the new residential developments 83 
would help bring in businesses.   84 
Terry asked Ms. Saenger if she had any roles that could place her in a position of a conflict of interest, 85 
such as financial, family relationships, or groups engaged in community matters if she served as a 86 
Planning Commission member.  Ms. Saenger responded the only thing was that she was on the Dock 87 
Committee for their Community Center, and that might be conflicting sometimes. 88 
Downie asked Ms. Saenger if there was anything she wanted to ask or add. Ms. Saenger responded she 89 
hoped they would consider her for the Planning Commission and she would like to help the City.  She 90 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 3 of 12  
 

 

believed the best way she could do that was to use her skills and her interests and apply it to her own 91 
City.   92 
The Commissioners voted and noted Mr. Holmes had received more votes than Ms. Saenger.   93 

Commissioner Balfany moved and Commissioner Terry seconded to recommend Eldon Holmes to 94 
the open Planning Commissioner seat to be reviewed by the City Council.  Johnson asked any 95 
discussion?   96 
Balfany stated he looked forward to Mr. Holmes’ history and understanding of where the City has been 97 
and his support in helping the City.  Johnson agreed and noted they had two good applicants and she 98 
encouraged Ms. Saenger to consider applying again when there was another opening.   99 
To the motion, all in favor say aye.  All in favor.  Johnson asked any opposed?  That motion passes.  100 
Motion passes unanimously. 101 

5.0  Continued IUP  - Commercial Kennel – 625 221st Avenue NE – Andrew Benik  102 
Berg reviewed staff’s report and requested the Planning Commission discuss the additional information 103 
requested, the original IUP Request and consider a recommendation to deny the IUP request to the City 104 
Council. 105 
Balfany stated he had a strong opposition based on how the City’s Ordinances read.  He noted while he 106 
appreciated it, it was not legal and he could not get behind it.  He believed this showed the openness and 107 
willingness to listen to the residents when they have the opposition in return, but such information came 108 
back that was not what he thought was accurate. 109 
Terry stated he believed Balfany was correct in that it did not fit the ordinances or zoning, but to him it 110 
fit the concept.  He noted he also could not approve this based on the language of the ordinances and 111 
zoning.  He stated to him the options remaining to either change the zoning or review the ordinance and 112 
hope there was a way to make that work, but he did not know how they would do that without “opening 113 
up a can of worms elsewhere.”  He noted to him this specific business on that property seemed pretty 114 
good though.   115 
Balfany agreed if this were zoned appropriately, he would not have any issues with the applicant’s 116 
business plan.  He stated he viewed zoning devices as part of specifically changing just his property to a 117 
different zone, which was still using zoning devices to change.  He stated to him the way the ordinance 118 
read was that he would need to find a commercial or industrial property in order to have that.  He said 119 
with respect to changing the Code, would they want to do that every time something did not fit.   120 
Downie stated he did not know if he could approve this either.  He noted this was a request by the 121 
applicant as a commercial business entity and the Ordinance specifically addressed that it was not 122 
allowed in residential zones.  He believed the Ordinance needed to be followed.   123 
Jorgensen stated this was in a residential neighborhood and he also did not think it fit and he was 124 
struggling to support it.  He indicated the City did need a business like this, but it just did not meet the 125 
residential neighborhood.   126 
Johnson stated she had similar thoughts as the rest of the Commission did.  She indicated in looking at 127 
the research that was done and comparing it with Gratitude Farm, it was not the same thing.  She stated 128 
she was concerned about setting a precedent also.  She noted this type of a business could also pop up all 129 
over the place also.  She stated she was also opposed to it.   130 
Berg stated the City had received two emails since the last meeting expressing support for the proposal.   131 

Commissioner Balfany moved and Commissioner Downie seconded to recommend to the Council 132 
that Resolution No. 2024-XX, A Resolution Determining Findings of Fact and Denying the 133 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 4 of 12  
 

 

Application for Interim Use Permit, as Applied for by Andrew Benik, for the Operation of a 134 
Commercial Kennel at 625 – 221st Avenue NE, East Bethel, Minnesota, Property Identification 135 
No: 06-22-23-43-0014.  Johnson asked any discussion?  To the motion, all in favor say aye.  All in 136 
favor.  Johnson asked any opposed?  That motion passes.  Motion passes unanimously.  137 

6.0A  Variance – Setbacks – 18440 3rd St NE – Steven Franker  138 
Berg reviewed staff’s report stating the City has received an application for a variance on this property, 139 
which is located in a Rural Residential (RR) Zoning District, in the Bear Hallow Subdivision. The 140 
property owner is requesting a variance for the placement of a detached accessory structure closer to the 141 
front lot line than the principal building and a reduction in rear yard setback standard from 25 feet to 18 142 
feet.   143 
Berg reviewed Zoning Appendix A. General Regulations – Section 14-2.F.  He indicated this property is 144 
1.09 acres, with the primary structure set back approximately 95 feet from the front lot line. This request 145 
does not meet the criteria set forth to allow the structure to be placed closer to the road, so a variance 146 
would be required for the placement of a detached accessory structure. Additionally, the property is 147 
irregularly shaped, backs the Oak Grove city boundary on the west, and has two ponds/wetlands, as well 148 
as the septic tanks and drainfield south of the principal dwelling. The well is located north of the 149 
principal dwelling making placement of the proposed detached accessory structure behind the front 150 
foundation line of the principal dwelling impractical.    151 
Berg summarized the three-factor test for practical difficulties, and stated with respect to the test of 152 
reasonableness, in this case accessory structures are a permitted accessory use in the RR Single Family 153 
Residential Zoning District.   154 
With respect to the second factor being that the landowner’s problem is due to circumstances unique to 155 
the property and not caused by the landlord, Berg indicated in this case the property is irregular shaped 156 
due to the City’s west boundary and the curve of 3rd Street NE; there are two ponds/wetland on the 157 
south half of the property; the septic tanks and drain field are located on the south side of the principal 158 
dwelling; and the well is located north of the principal dwelling. 159 
With respect to the third factor being that a variance would not alter the essential character of the 160 
neighborhood, Berg noted in this case seven of the 30 parcels in Bear Hallow have detached accessory 161 
structures; three of the seven are nearer the front line than the primary structure; and the property abuts a 162 
160 acres of land owned by the MN DNR Forestry Land.  163 
Berg requested the Planning Commission hold a public hearing and recommend approval of the variance 164 
request to the City Council for the placement of a detached accessory structure nearer to the front lot line 165 
than the principal dwelling and a reduction of the standard rear yard setback from 25 feet to 18 feet with 166 
conditions as written in Resolution 2024-XX. 167 
Johnson opened the public hearing at 7:38 p.m. 168 
Steven Franker, applicant, stated he was trying to get a detached garage for some ATVs and trailers.   169 
Terry asked why the garage could not be located to the east using the same driveway and come in at a 170 
right angle from the driveway.  Mr. Franker responded he had considered that, but he questioned 171 
whether it would obstruct the front lawn view of his neighbors.  He believed it was a much better use of 172 
the property with it tucked away on the side, especially since it was against DNR land and not 173 
encroaching on any neighbor’s lawn.   174 
Balfany noted that would stand out a lot more like a “sore thumb” on the corner than it would be to the 175 
interior of the property.  Mr. Franken responded he believed it would practically cover up the whole 176 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 5 of 12  
 

 

front of the house as you would see it from the side and it would be more of an eyesore there than tucked 177 
away by the trees.   178 
Berg stated it would also have to be a minimum of 20 feet from the septic drainfield, which is going to 179 
push it even closer to the street than the proposed location on the north side of the building.  Mr. Franker 180 
expressed concern about where the utilities came in also. 181 
Jorgensen asked if he intended on paving the driveway.  Mr. Franken responded he was going to pave it.  182 
He indicated it would be the same color on the garage doors and would have a rock face.   183 
Jorgensen asked if it would come off of the same driveway.  Mr. Franken responded it would have a 184 
separate driveway.   185 
Balfany believed all of the garages for the houses they have had lately, he believed this one property fit 186 
more into the three-factor test and he did not have any opposition to this.  187 
Johnson closed the public hearing at 7:41 p.m. 188 
Berg stated he had had two people reach out with one being the neighbor immediately across the street 189 
who was asking what the nature of the building was going to be used for as they wanted to ensure that 190 
there was not going to be a commercial businesses in the neighborhood.  He noted he had explained to 191 
him that this was for general storage along with cars and vehicles, the neighbor was satisfied and had no 192 
opposition. 193 
Berg stated he had also received an email and phone call from the Minnesota DNR who wanted to know 194 
what the variance was for.  He indicated he had shared all of the packet material with the person who 195 
noted that she would reach out to him by Monday if there were any concerns, but he had not heard from 196 
her so he assumed that the DNR was not opposed to the variance request on the rear property line. 197 
Balfany stated he had no opposition to this request. 198 
Jorgensen agreed that it would not look out of place in the neighborhood however, he requested Mr. 199 
Franken keep the driveway narrower to the road.   200 

Commissioner Balfany moved and Commissioner Terry seconded to recommend to the City 201 
Council Resolution No. 2024-XX, A Resolution Granting a Variance for the Placement of a 202 
Structure Nearer to the Front Property Line than the Principal Structure and a Reduction from 203 
the Rear Yard Setback Standard of 25 Feet to 18 Feet for the Construction of a Residential 204 
Detached Accessory Structure on Property Located at 18440 3rd ST NE (PIN: 31-33-23-32-0001). 205 
Johnson asked any discussion?  To the motion, all in favor say aye.  All in favor.  Johnson asked any 206 
opposed?  That motion passes.  Motion passes unanimously. 207 

6.0B  Variance – Second Driveway – 20910 Buchanan St NE – Scott Pfipsen  208 
Berg reviewed staff’s report stating on February 22, 2024, the City of East Bethel received a Variance 209 
Application from Scott Pflipsen, the property owner at 20910 Buchanan Street NE, for the construction 210 
of a second driveway/access to his parcel off of Buchanan Street NE.  In 2021, Mr. Pflipsen, was 211 
permitted to construct a detached accessory structure on his property. Due to the placement of the 212 
primary residence on the north side of the parcel and its proximity to the side yard lot line, Mr. Pfipsen 213 
constructed the detached accessory structure on the south side of the primary residence. The layout of 214 
the home placed the garage on the north side of the house, away from the detached accessory structure. 215 
This orientation places the driveway/access nearly 75 feet away from the newly constructed detached 216 
accessory structure. Adding to the existing driveway to get the detached accessory structure would 217 
taking up the majority of his front yard.  A driveway that provides direct access to the second garage 218 
would look better than an extension that runs parallel to the City right-of-way through the front yard.  219 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 6 of 12  
 

 

Berg indicated on March 19, 2021, when Mr. Pfipsen applied for his detached accessory structure permit 220 
he indicated that there would be “no second driveway.”  221 
Berg reviewed Section 10 – General Development Regulations, Sub 15(A).  222 
Berg stated City staff have been contacted by a neighbor (Arvid Vangsness), who is wintering in 223 
Arizona and unavailable to attend the PC Meeting. He explained that there are restrictive covenants in 224 
place for the development that limit properties to one detached accessory building and was questioning 225 
how the applicant was able to get a permit to build an additional building since there was already a 226 
detached accessory structure on the property behind the house. The recorded restrictive covenants were 227 
located and are attached for review. Covenants are private agreements between a developer and the 228 
landowners. The City does not have the authority to enforce covenants therefore the additional detached 229 
accessory structure was approved by City zoning code. Mr. Vangsness is opposed to the second 230 
driveway if this will permit the applicant to park more cars outside on a new driveway.  231 
Berg requested the Planning Commission hold a public hearing and recommend denial or approval of 232 
the variance request to the City Council for the placement of a second driveway on a parcel in an R-1 233 
Zoning District. 234 
Johnson opened the public hearing at 7:49 p.m. 235 
Mark Klaus, Buchanan Court, stated he had no objection to the request and he believed everything fit 236 
into the neighborhood.  He indicated it was ridiculous that the City would not let him have a variance 237 
just to finish off that piece instead of him driving on his grass to get out.  He requested the Commission 238 
allow him to put in the concrete to finish the look of it.  He noted this was not offensive to anyone.   239 
Glen Highland, Buchanan Street, stated he was opposed to this variance being granted.  He believed it 240 
would set a bad precedent for the neighborhood as he believed other people would also want a variance.  241 
He believed if this were passed, it would make it easier for people to park large vehicles or tow behind 242 
equipment or construction equipment onto their property, which he did not think would help with the 243 
appearance of the neighborhood. 244 
Mr. Highland questioned what effect this would have on potential homebuyers who come through the 245 
neighborhood looking to buy a property as they are going to see this large garage that had its own 246 
driveway.  He stated it was reasonable to assume the people would wonder what kind of business was 247 
being operated in that structure.  He did not think that it is a good idea for the neighborhood.   248 
Laura Watson, Buchanan Street, stated she was in favor of this request as right now it looked weird not 249 
to have the driveway going to the street.  She noted the main reason they moved to the neighborhood 250 
was because of the detached garages in the area.   251 
Scott Pfipsen, applicant, Buchanan Street, indicated he had received 24 signatures from his neighbors 252 
who had no issues about his request.  He indicated he needed access to his garage and his only other 253 
option was to go directly across from the detached garage across his front yard.   254 
Johnson indicated some of the concerns was this might set a precedent.  Mr. Pfipsen indicated he was 255 
not going to park semis and he did not do small engine repair so there would be no complaints coming 256 
from noise.   257 
Johnson stated another concern was that potential homebuyers might think it looked like a business.  Mr. 258 
Pfipsen noted if someone wanted to turn it into a business, they could if they wanted to. 259 
Johnson stated in the notes it said that when he built the garage, he wasn’t going to have a second 260 
driveway.  She asked if he had changed his mind.  Mr. Pfipsen responded once he started driving over 261 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 7 of 12  
 

 

the grass, it was considered a driveway, which he had not realized initially.  He acknowledged one 262 
neighbor had complained about the driving on the grass, but if it had concrete on it, it would be fine. 263 
Balfany asked when the concrete apron was put in.  Mr. Pfipsen responded it was put in when the garage 264 
was put up.   265 
Berg noted on the application it asked if a driveway would be put in.  He indicated if Mr. Pfipsen had 266 
said he would be putting in a driveway, he would have found out he lived in an R1 zone and was not 267 
allowed to have a second driveway.  He noted when the building inspector was doing the inspection, 268 
there was a second driveway being framed up all the way to the street, so he was the staff person who 269 
delivered the stop work order and ended the driveway where it was because it is not allowed to have a 270 
second driveway accounting to the Zoning Code.  If Mr. Pfipsen had originally indicated on the 271 
application that there would have been a driveway, they would not be here today. 272 
Tony Lero, 1025 212th Avenue, noted there were approximately 30 other building in the neighborhood 273 
who had secondary buildings and a couple of them had secondary driveways.  He believed going across 274 
the front yard would be really bad to look at as well as Mr. Pfipsen would get mud tracks all over the 275 
roads.  He noted Mr. Pfipsen did not use the driveway every day and he believed it was in the 276 
neighborhood’s best interest to have a second driveway coming out to the street.   277 
Johnson closed the public hearing at 8:03 p.m. 278 
Berg noted with the R1 or R2 and R Coon Lake zoned neighborhoods had considerably smaller lots than 279 
the rural residential zone.  He indicated the rural residential zone was where they allowed second 280 
driveways.  He stated the Ordinance was written the way it was for the purposes of safety in the 281 
neighborhood and to try and prevent traffic crashes on the streets where there was more dense residential 282 
development.   283 
Downie stated he was opposed to this variance as the Ordinance prohibited a second driveway in an R1 284 
zone.  He noted if Mr. Pfipsen had wanted a driveway when he applied for the accessory structure, he 285 
should have said so at that time.  He did not think that because it did not look good driving on the grass 286 
was a reason to go against the way the Ordinance was written.   287 
Jorgensen stated he did not think they should have let a building get built if they were not going to allow 288 
a second driveway to it.  He believed the City should revisit second driveways.  He believed the 289 
driveway would look fine and he did not see how it was going to be a detriment to the community.   290 
Terry stated without having Ordinance language surrounding his thought process, it was obvious that 291 
driveway should be finished.  He believed if they were permitting a garage to be built, due diligence 292 
should be made at the application process that states if you could not have a driveway to it, what were 293 
they thinking and how were they going to get to it.  He noted it was not clear to him why they were in 294 
this situation.  He stated it made more sent to him to not have a mud hazard and an unfinished look, or 295 
the alternative having to be putting a driveway across your front lawn which would look silly.   296 
Terry indicated property values was not a compelling reason for him to decide anything. He believed the 297 
sensible thing was to finish the driveway.  He stated if they were concerned about too many driveways, 298 
they should probably consider stopping that at the point of putting garages or accessory structures in that 299 
were going to be used as garages or have them located so they could easily connect to the main 300 
driveway.   301 
Balfany stated he would vote to deny this due to precedence.  He noted they had Ordinances in place for 302 
reasons.  He indicated if Mr. Pfipsen had said in his original application he wanted to put in a driveway, 303 
this would have been denied at that time.  He indicated this was not something unique to the 304 
characteristic of the area and it was the landowners choice.   305 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 8 of 12  
 

 

Terry noted comments had been made about this was not caused by the land but was caused by the 306 
landowner, but indicated they were skipping a step and if the landowner were allowed to have an 307 
accessory structure, where else would he locate it.  Balfany responded if the applicant had put on the 308 
original application that he intended to have a driveway, it would have been rejected because he was not 309 
allowed to have a driveway.  He noted it was not until the building inspector had seen there was a 310 
second driveway going in, a second driveway would have been put in and they would then be in a 311 
different scenario.   312 
Terry stated he was addressing the location of the accessory building and that the landowner had put it 313 
there because there was not another good place for it.  Berg noted accessory structures were not a 314 
requirement for a primary residence.  He indicated they were optional items.  He stated when an 315 
application for an accessory structure came in, staff does not assume what it will be used for.  He gave 316 
an example if the structure were going to be used for a boat which would be taken out on the weekends, 317 
would that create enough traffic for causing problems for a second driveway access, or complaints from 318 
the neighborhood.   319 
Balfany noted there are other structures that did not have driveways and if this landowner were allowed 320 
to have a driveway, then how many more applicants would want a driveway as well.   321 
Johnson stated she was in favor of granting the variance.  She noted the City had a variance process, and 322 
this was a good reason why they had a process.  She believed every variance could create a precedent, 323 
which they should consider, but finishing this driveway was going to look a lot better than putting the 324 
driveway across the front yard and the neighbors for the most part were in agreement with the variance. 325 
Balfany questioned what was the uniqueness not caused by the landowner as to why he should be 326 
granted a variance for a second driveway.  Johnson responded she believed the City had some role in 327 
this as it was clear if he had an accessory structure, that he was going to be going from the street to the 328 
garage.  She indicated she did not understand that at the time the building was permitted, that the 329 
assertion was made that they were not going to have a second driveway.  She believed it was better to 330 
put it in a driveway.   331 
Berg stated it appeared they were making assumptions as to what was the intent of the application, and 332 
the applicant might want to address this.   333 
Mr. Pfipsen explained what had transpired when the garage apron was put in.  He asked what was 334 
considered a driveway.  Balfany responded that a hard surface was a driveway.   335 
Terry stated the question that had come up that he wanted clarified was it had been insinuated that when 336 
he applied for the permit for the accessory building, that he was withholding his intention to build a 337 
driveway.  Mr. Pfipsen responded that was never his intention and he had not thought about a driveway 338 
at that time.   339 
Balfany reiterated that for variances there was a three-factor test, which he did not believe Mr. Pfipsen 340 
had met in this variance request.  Terry responded the three-factor test the Commissioners were required 341 
to consider, but they were not required to obey them.  He believed the three-factor test was guidance and 342 
not the law itself.   343 
Balfany believed it was the law and that was why the State changed it because the language was too 344 
loose before.  Terry stated it said that the Commission was required to consider it, but it did not say they 345 
were required to only grant it on that basis. 346 
Balfany again stated he did not want to set a precedence.  Johnson acknowledged precedence was a very 347 
important issue for Balfany, but asked if the other Commissioners needed any more information to make 348 
their decision. 349 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 9 of 12  
 

 

Mr. Pfipsen stated he needed access to his garage and a driveway going across the front yard would 350 
affect home values in the neighborhood as well as it would not look good.  He indicated that would be 351 
his only option if this were rejected. 352 

Commissioner Balfany moved and Commissioner Downie seconded to recommend Resolution No. 353 
2024-XX, A Resolution Denying a Variance for the Placement of a Second Driveway on Property 354 
Located at 20910 Buchanan St NE (PIN: 17-33-23-23-0021) to the City Council. Johnson asked any 355 
discussion?  To the motion, all in favor say aye – Balfany and Downie.  Johnson asked any opposed?  356 
Terry, Jorgensen, and Johnson.  That motion failed.  Motion failed 2-3. 357 

Commissioner Terry moved and Commissioner Johnson seconded to recommend Resolution No. 358 
2024-XX, A Resolution Granting a Variance for the Placement of a Second Driveway on Property 359 
Located at 20910 Buchanan St NE (PIN: 17-33-23-23-0021) to the City Council. Johnson asked any 360 
discussion?  To the motion, all in favor say aye – Terry, Jorgensen, and Johnson.  Johnson asked any 361 
opposed?  Balfany and Downie.  That motion passed.  Motion passed 3-2. 362 
 363 

6.0C  IUP Amendment – 1311 229th Avenue NE – Taras Martynenko  364 
Berg reviewed staff’s report stating B & T Trucking is an over-the-road trucking company that’s been in 365 
business for over 20 years and has been operating in East Bethel for over 8 years. On May 10, 2021, an 366 
IUP was issued by Resolution 2021-28 to allow the continued operation of the business in compliance 367 
with City zoning code. Over the past 8 years, the property remains neat and orderly. No complaints for 368 
non-compliancy have been recorded. 369 
Berg stated that with any long-haul operation the transportation vehicles accumulate miles and it 370 
becomes more cost effective to replace rather than continuing to repair. The owners intend to sell the 371 
used fleet and replace it with new trucks and/or trailers as needed. MN State Statute 168.27 requires a 372 
motor vehicle dealer license be obtained by anyone engaged in the direct sales or leases more than 5 373 
vehicles within a 12-month period (new or used). A motor vehicle dealer’s license requires City zoning 374 
verification.  375 
Berg indicated B & T Trucking is located at 1311 229th Ave NE, which is Zoned Light Industrial. 376 
SECTION 48. – LIGHT INDUSTIAL (I) DISTRICT code identifies motor vehicle sales as a prohibited 377 
use.   378 
Berg reviewed Section 04 – Application and Procedures noting that the planning commission may 379 
recommend and the City Council may approve significant changes and modifications to CUPs or IUPs, 380 
including the application of additional or revised conditions. 381 
Berg noted B & T Trucking is a requesting an amendment to the conditions of their IUP to permit the 382 
sale or transfer of vehicles in order to continue the business operations. 383 
Berg stated the existing IUP conditions are identified in Resolution 2021-28 and include that the Permit 384 
shall expire when:  The property is sold, or non-compliance of IUP conditions; no more than fifteen (15) 385 
tractor trailers may be stored on the property at any given time; The Interim Use Permit is not 386 
transferable to any other businesses; the property must remain neat and orderly and trucks and trailers 387 
shall be screened from the public right-of-way; and the fenced storage area must not be expanded from 388 
the existing footprint. 389 
Berg indicated the City Council, at their discretion, may modify conditions at any time. 390 
Berg recommended the Planning Commission hold a public hearing and recommend approval or denial 391 
to the City Council for an IUP Amendment to the limited sale of motor vehicles. 392 
Johnson opened the public hearing at 8:30 p.m. 393 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 10 of 12  
 

 

There were no comments made. 394 
Johnson closed the public hearing at 8:30 p.m. 395 
Berg noted the conditions were limited to 15 trucks and trailers and they are also required to be stored 396 
within the fenced in area.   397 
Terry stated he did not even know the business existed until it came up before the Commission 398 
previously, which was a testament as to how good they did with screening it, but this defeats that.  He 399 
noted if they were going to keep it within the bounds of their screening, that would be one thing.   400 
Berg stated in light industrial zones of the City automobile sales were completely prohibited, but they 401 
were permitted in the commercial zone of the City.  He noted they did have a couple of existing car sales 402 
lots that existed prior to the Ordinance change which were legal non-conforming as long as they did not 403 
discontinue for one year, along with a few other conditions.   404 
Berg indicated administratively, staff would likely deny this request, but the applicant has a right to 405 
request that their conditions be amended in their IUP. 406 
Berg noted he was surprised when he drove by the property that there were already vehicles for sale up 407 
front, but he had not followed up with the applicant.  He noted this would technically be a Code 408 
violation based on his existing IUP but they have had no complaints about it, and the City is complaint-409 
based Code enforcement.  He noted he wrote the Resolution to limit potential sales on the approval to 410 
strictly fleet vehicles only owned by the company.  He noted though that there were companies that 411 
would take fleet vehicles so they would not need to sell them onsite.  He noted there were other options 412 
also, such as electronically advertising the vehicles.   413 
Jorgensen stated he drove by this property every day and he did not think he had ever seen a vehicle for 414 
sale on that corner, but he would understand why the applicant would want it out front.   415 

Commissioner Downie moved and Commissioner Downie seconded to recommend Resolution 416 
2024-XX, A Resolution Denying an Interim Use Permit Amendment for B & T Trucking, Located 417 
at 1311 – 229th Avenue NE, PIN’s 32-34-23-34-0005 and 32-34-23-34-0006 to the City Council 418 
Johnson asked any discussion?  To the motion, all in favor say aye. All in favor.  Johnson asked any 419 
opposed? That motion passes.  Motion passes unanimously. 420 

6.0D CUPA – 1281 – 187th Avenue NE – Designing Earth Contracting  421 
Berg reviewed staff’s report stating Designing Earth Contracting, INC., an East Bethel company is in the 422 
finishing stages of their new 19,000 sq. ft. facility, located at 1282 187th Lane NE. The applicant is 423 
requesting to expand the previously approved exterior storage yard to include a 40’ x 80’ (3,200 sq. ft.) 424 
prefabricated, PVC fabric, hoop framed Detached Accessory Structure for general storage.   425 
Berg stated the property is zoned (I) – Light Industrial, in which Construction, Trade, and Service 426 
Businesses is permitted by Condition Use Permit (CUP). 427 
Berg reviewed the Code requirements including detached accessory structures, architectural design, and 428 
size of an accessory structure. 429 
Berg recommended the Planning Commission hold a public hearing, review the applicants request and 430 
make a recommendation of approval or denial to City Council with the conditions set forth in Resolution 431 
2024-XX and accompanied exhibits. 432 
Johnson opened the public hearing at 8:42 p.m. 433 
Jesse Newman, Designer Contracting, stated he was requesting permission to build a temporary shelter 434 
for storage that would allow them to keep materials, tools, vehicles, etc. in.  He indicated the shelter was 435 
not going to be used long-term and it was intended to be an interim solution for them.  He noted they 436 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 11 of 12  
 

 

intended to build another structure in the future when money and time allowed.  He noted they wanted to 437 
try and keep everything clean, consolidated, and in a fully enclosed building.  He indicated this would be 438 
a single until structure. 439 
Johnson complimented Mr. Newman on how attractive his building was.  She asked how long did he 440 
foresee the structure being up.  Mr. Newman responded he believed the life of the structure he wanted 441 
was approximately 7 to 9 years and it would be his intention to build a new structure prior to the 442 
termination of the quality of the temporary structure.   443 
Johnson asked if Mr. Newman was going to attach the structure to the ground.  Mr. Newman explained 444 
the process he would use to secure it to the ground. 445 
Johnson asked if this would be considered a moveable building.  Berg responded that was not addressed 446 
in the City’s Code.  Mr. Newman responded it could be moved, but it would take some expense, time, 447 
and labor to do that.  He suggested they put a sunset date on the building, which could be extended by 448 
Council approval if necessary.   449 
Mr. Newman noted right now they were storing their stuff onsite in a couple of semitrailers which they 450 
would like to eliminate.  He noted their goal was to have everything in one location and not in multiple 451 
locations.  He stated his wife wanted the property to look cleaner and she did not like clutter.  He 452 
believed with the temporary structure, their facility would look more presentable and have better curb 453 
appeal that they could portray to their clients when they came to their establishment.   454 
Johnson closed the public hearing at 8:49 p.m. 455 
Berg stated this clearly did not meet the City’s detached accessory structure, design standards 456 
requirements, colors, and it was not compatible with the primary building, but it was up to the 457 
Commission to make a recommendation.  He believed Mr. Newman was a very responsible business 458 
owner and so far he had been a “man of his word,” and he did not have any doubt that Mr. Newman 459 
would do what he said he was going to do when he says he was going to do it.  However, he questioned 460 
what this was going to do for the next property owner if this consideration was made.  He noted the 461 
Council did define the conditions and if the conditions of the exterior storage were to allow for 462 
temporary storage, which was a condition.  He indicated if a neighbor wanted to come in and request an 463 
amendment to a CUP for exterior storage then they would go through the same process that Mr. 464 
Newman was going through. 465 
Berg noted there are other businesses across the street that had similar structures already on their lots, 466 
but he had not done any research as to when those structures were put in, or if they were included in the 467 
CUPs.   468 
Johnson stated she would be in favor of putting in a sunset clause on this.   469 
Balfany agreed there would need to be a sunset date on this along with not having any violations or 470 
Code reports.   471 
Terry stated Mr. Newman could have put up a boring, architecturally bland, cheap building but instead 472 
he created a strong asset to the City with what he put up there, so he could understand giving a little 473 
extra credit for that in the form of a temporary structure until he was ready to do the next step, which he 474 
believed would also be good.   475 
Berg stated one thing they might want to consider is if it could be moved behind the primary structure so 476 
it was not visible off of Highway 65, which might lessen the aesthetic of the neighborhood if that were 477 
to happen. 478 



March 26, 2024 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Page 12 of 12  
 

 

Balfany asked Mr. Newman if that was a possibility.  Mr. Newman responded he had taken that into 479 
consideration, however, he explained why it made more sense to him to keep it where he was proposing 480 
it.  He noted where they placed it, it would pretty much block the majority of the structure coming from 481 
both directions. He indicated it was also placed where he proposed access into the property.   482 
Jorgensen stated he liked he idea of a timeline, but he would like to see it be shorter than 7 years.   483 
Downie acknowledged that the architectural design requirements were not what the primary structure 484 
was, but he liked he idea of encouraging them to move forward with their business venture and he liked 485 
the idea of having a sunset clause. 486 

Commissioner Terry moved and Commissioner Downie seconded to recommend Resolution No. 487 
2024-XX, A Resolution approving a Conditional Use Permit Amendment for the Placement of a 488 
Temporary Detached Accessory Structure in the Permitted Exterior Storage Area on Property 489 
Located at 1282 – 187th LN NE (PIN: 32-33-23-24-0018) with the condition that the timeframe be 490 
limited to five (5) years, at which point it would come up for review again to this body and to the 491 
City Council . Johnson asked any discussion?  To the motion, all in favor say aye.  All in favor.  492 
Johnson asked any opposed?  That motion passes.  Motion passes unanimously. 493 

7.0  Updates 494 
Council Liaison Smith updated the Commission on recent Council actions.   495 

 496 
8.0  Adjournment 497 

Commissioner Balfany moved and Commissioner Downie seconded to adjourn at 9:05 pm. 498 
Johnson asked any discussion?  To the motion, all in favor say aye.  All in favor.  Johnson asked any 499 
opposed?  That motion passes.  Motion passes unanimously. 500 

Submitted by:  501 
Kathy Altman 502 
TimeSaver Off Site Secretarial, Inc. 503 
 504 



D
urant S

t N
E

K
issel S

t N
E

G
hia

S
t N

E

Legend

Parcels

City Mask

April 8, 2024
Map Powered By DataLink

±

21333 Durant St NE - Location Map

1 inch equals 719 feet



Legend

Parcels

City Mask

April 8, 2024
Map Powered By DataLink

±

21333 Durant St NE - Aerial Map

1 inch equals 543 feet












